



Natural origin precursors for carbon fiber production

Inês Moreirinha Lino

Thesis to obtain the Master of Science Degree in **Mestrado Integrado em Engenharia Química**

Supervisor: Professora Doutora Ana Clara Lopes Marques (IST) External Supervisor: Doutor Paulo Fernando Martins de Magalhães Correia (FISIPE, S.A.)

Examination Committee

Chairperson: Professor Doutor João Carlos Moura Bordado (IST) Supervisor: Professora Doutora Ana Clara Lopes Marques (IST) Member of the Committee: Professora Doutora Ana Paula Vieira Soares Pereira Dias (IST)

November 2017

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank all those who somehow helped me in the accomplishment of this work.

First of all, I would like to express my special thanks to my supervisor, Professora Doutora Ana Marques (IST), for all her sympathy, availability, knowledge shared, support and all the help provided throughout these last few months.

To Doutor Paulo Correia, from FISIPE, for the availability and help in carrying out this work.

To Cardolite Corporation for having so reliably given me some reagents that were necessary to carry out this work.

To Professora Doutora Dulce Simão (IST) for the assistance provided and the availability of lending me some reagents, without which it would not have been possible to carry out some of the experimental work.

To Doutora Maria João Ferreira (IST) for her total availability on carrying out the NMR analyses and for having clarified all my doubts related to these analyses.

To Professora Doutora Ana Paula Dias (IST) a huge thank you for lending me some reagents, for the support, concern, friendship and for being always available to help me when needed.

To all the people in the -1 and -2 floor Laboratories of IST, especially Mário, David and Samuel, for being always available to help me when I needed their help throughout my work, for the patience in clarifying my doubts and for the kindness with which they received me in the Laboratory.

To all the friends I made throughout these years at IST, who accompanied me on this journey and who have always supported me, especially Mónica and Teresa for their patience, for putting up with my dramas, for their friendship, for everything.

To my old friends, especially to Marisa, for all the words of support, especially over the last few months, for her patience, friendship, everything.

To Rita, my biggest friend, for everything, for her enormous patience, for all the hours spent enduring my dramas, for all the support throughout my life in IST, for never letting me give up, just to list a few things.

To my cousin Ricardo a special thank you for his patience, support, and for always having something fun to say to cheer me up.

Finally, the greatest thank you of all, to my family, with special affection for my parents, because without them none of this would have been possible. Not without their enormous patience, caring, unconditional love and support.

Abstract

Carbon fibers are bundles of flexible, lightweight and thin filaments composed mostly by carbon atoms, high in tensile strength, that can be used in a wide range of high performance applications, such as in the aerospace and automotive industry, textiles and modern sports equipment.

Carbon fibers' raw materials are denominated precursors, being polyacrylonitrile (PAN) the most used one. Most carbon fiber precursors have fossil origin and due to oil price oscillations, environmental problems, and precursor cost, carbon fibers are considered expensive materials.

In the present work, to reduce the above-mentioned problems and, consequently, the cost of carbon fibers, a natural and sustainable source material, cardanol, was used in the production of two different compounds, a polymer (polycardanol) and a prepolymer (cardanol-based vinyl ester resin), which were investigated as precursors to produce more economically sustainable and more eco-friendly carbon fibers.

Both polycardanol and cardanol-based vinyl ester (VE) resin were characterized using several methods: Attenuated Total Reflectance – Fourier Transformed Infrared Spectroscopy (ATR-FTIR), Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (NMR), Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA), Differential Thermal Analysis (DTA) and Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC).

Through these methods, it was possible to conclude that the synthesis of polycardanol was not as efficient as that of the prepolymer, making the latter a more promising material as a future carbon fiber precursor.

Keywords: carbon fibers; precursors; bioderived; PAN; cardanol; eco-friendly.

Resumo

As fibras de carbono são feixes de filamentos flexíveis, leves e finos, compostos, principalmente, por átomos de carbono, com elevada resistência à tração, podendo ser utilizadas numa vasta gama de aplicações de elevado desempenho, como nas indústrias aeroespacial e automóvel, têxteis e equipamento desportivo.

A matéria-prima utilizada na sua produção é denominada precursor, sendo o poliacrilonitrilo (PAN) o mais utilizado. A maioria dos precursores de fibras de carbono são de origem fóssil e, devido a oscilações do preço do petróleo, problemas ambientais e custos dos precursores, as fibras de carbono são consideradas materiais dispendiosos.

Neste trabalho, de modo a reduzir os problemas supramencionados e, consequentemente, o custo das fibras de carbono, utilizou-se um material de origem natural e sustentável, o cardanol, na produção de dois compostos distintos, um polímero (policardanol) e um pré-polímero (resina vinil éster à base de cardanol), que foram estudados como potenciais precursores para produzir fibras de carbono mais sustentáveis e *eco-friendly*.

Tanto o policardanol como a resina foram caracterizados recorrendo a diversos métodos: Reflectância Total Atenuada – Espectroscopia de Infravermelho com Transformada de Fourier (ATR-FTIR), Espectroscopia por Ressonância Magnética Nuclear (RMN), Termogravimetria (TGA), Análise Térmica Diferencial (DTA) e Calorimetria Diferencial de Varrimento (DSC).

Através destes métodos, foi possível concluir que a síntese de policardanol não foi tão eficiente quanto a do pré-polímero, pelo que este último pode ser considerado como um material mais promissor como futuro precursor de fibra de carbono.

Palavras-chave: fibras de carbono; precursores; origem natural; PAN; cardanol; ecológico.

Contents

Ack	Acknowledgmentsiii				
Abs	stract	V			
Res	sumo .	vii			
Cor	ntents	ix			
List	of tab	lesxi			
List	of fig	ures xiii			
List	of Ac	ronymsxv			
1. Introduction					
1	.1	Thesis Scope and Motivation1			
1	.2	Objectives			
1	.3	Thesis Outline			
2.	Litera	ature Review			
2	.1	Carbon fiber			
	2.1.1	Carbon fiber synthesis			
	2.1.2	Carbon fiber properties7			
2	.2	Carbon fiber precursors			
	2.2.1	PAN – based precursors			
	2.2.2	Pitch – based precursors			
	2.2.3	Rayon – based precursors 10			
	2.2.4	Natural bio-resources			
2	.3	Cardanol-based prepolymer and polymers 12			
2	.4	Polymerization techniques used			
3.	Mate	rials and Experimental methods17			
3	.1	Materials			
3	.2	Experimental methods			
	3.2.1	Synthesis of prepolymer cardanol-based VE resin17			
	3.2.2	Synthesis of polycardanol18			
3	.3	Characterization methods			
	3.3.1	Attenuated Total Reflectance - Fourier-Transformed Infrared (ATR-FTIR) Spectroscopy 19			
	3.3.2	Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR) Spectroscopy20			

	3.3.3 Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA)		0
3.3.4 Differential Thermal Analysis (DTA)			1
	3.3.5	Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC)2	1
4.	Resu	Its and Discussion	3
4	Characterization of the prepolymer cardanol-based VE resin	3	
	4.1.1	Characterization by ATR-FTIR23	3
	4.1.2	Characterization by NMR24	4
	4.1.3	Characterization by TGA 20	6
	4.1.4	Characterization by DTA2	7
	4.1.5	Characterization by DSC 28	8
4	.2	Characterization of the polycardanol	1
	4.2.1	Characterization by ATR-FTIR	1
	4.2.2	Characterization by NMR	2
	4.2.3	Characterization by TGA 33	3
	4.2.4	Characterization by DTA	4
	4.2.5	Characterization by DSC	5
5.	Conclusions		7
6.	Future Work		9
7.	References		1
8.	8. Annex		
8	.1	Annex I4	7
8	.2	Annex II	8

List of tables

Table 1 – Risk phrases of the chemica	I compounds used4	7
---------------------------------------	-------------------	---

List of figures

Figure 1 – Global carbon fiber market volume share by application, in percentage, in 2016 [5]	1
Figure 2 – Carbon fiber cost breakdown (Adapted from [9]).	2
Figure 3 – Spinneret [17].	6
Figure 4 – Solution spinning process (Adapted from [18]).	7
Figure 5 – Melt spinning process (Adapted from [18]).	7
Figure 6 – Manufacturing process of carbon fibers from PAN-based precursor (Adapted from [3])	8
Figure 7 – FISIPE's manufacturing process of carbon fibers from PAN-based precursor [21]	8
Figure 8 – Carbon fiber precursors development in FISIPE [21]	9
Figure 9 – Raw lignin [30]	. 11
Figure 10 – Schematic representation of lignin's structure and its structural units [31].	. 11
Figure 11 – CNSL main components (Adapted from [36])	. 12
Figure 12 – World area harvested and production of cashew nuts, between 1994 and 2014 [37]	. 13
Figure 13 – Top 10 producers of cashew nuts, between 1994 and 2014 [37]	. 13
Figure 14 – Cashew nut shell liquid technology (Adapted from [41])	. 14
Figure 15 – Reaction scheme for cardanol-based VE resin (Adapted from [50])	. 17
Figure 16 – Experimental set-up for the cardanol-based VE resin.	. 18
Figure 17 – Reaction scheme for polycardanol synthesis (Adapted from [56]).	. 18
Figure 18 – Experimental set-ups for polycardanol's reaction and with the Soxhlet extractor	. 19
Figure 19 – ATR-FTIR analysis of cardanol NC-514 and the cardanol-based VE resin	. 23
Figure 20 – ¹ H-NMR of the cardanol-based VE resin in deuterated chloroform, CDCl ₃	. 24
Figure 21 – ¹³ C-NMR of the cardanol-based VE resin in deuterated chloroform, CDCl ₃	. 25
Figure 22 – TG analysis of cardanol NC-514 and of the VE resin, at 10 $^{\circ}$ C/min in N ₂	. 26
Figure 23 – TG analysis of PAN (Adapted from [72])	. 27
Figure 24 – DTA analysis of cardanol NC-514 and of the VE resin, at 10 °C/min in N2.	. 27
Figure 25 – DSC curve obtained for the cardanol-based VE resin, at 5 °C/min in air.	. 28
Figure 26 – DSC thermograms of cardanol-based VE resin and PFC, at 5 °C/min in air	. 29
Figure 27 – DSC thermogram of coal tar pitch (Adapted from [74])	. 30
Figure 28 – DSC thermogram of rayon-based carbon fiber precursor (Adapted from [75])	. 30
Figure 29 – ATR-FTIR analysis of cardanol NX-9001 and polycardanol.	. 31
Figure 30 – ¹ H-NMR of polycardanol in deuterated chloroform, CDCl ₃ .	. 32
Figure 31 – a) ¹³ C-NMR and b) DEPT C-NMR of polycardanol in deuterated chloroform, CDCl ₃	. 33
Figure 32 – TG analysis of cardanol NX-9001 and polycardanol, at 10 °C/min in N2	. 33
Figure 33 – DTA analysis of cardanol NX-9001 and polycardanol, at 10 °C/min in N2	. 34
Figure 34 – DSC curve obtained for polycardanol, at 5 °C/min in air	. 35
Figure 35 – DSC thermogram of polycardanol and PAN, at 5 °C/min in air.	. 36
Figure 36 – ¹ H-NMR spectrum of the cardanol-based VE resin with the integration values	. 48

List of Acronyms

- AA Acrylic acid
 AN Acrylonitrile
 ATR Attenuated Total Reflectance
 BPA Bisphenol A
 CAGR Compound Annual Growth Rate
 CSNL Cashew nutshell liquid
 DGEBA Diglycidyl ether of bisphenol A
- **DEPT –** Distortionless Enhancement of Polarization Transfer
- **DSC –** Differential scanning calorimetry
- DTA Differential thermal analysis
- FTIR Fourier-Transformed Infrared Spectroscopy
- NMR Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy
- PAN Polyacrylonitrile
- RT Rotary evaporator
- Tg Glass transition temperature
- TGA Thermogravimetric analysis
- TPP Triphenylphosphine
- VE Vinyl ester

1. Introduction

1.1 Thesis Scope and Motivation

FISIPE, S.A., is an European company that produces acrylic fibers and more recently carbon fiber precursors, and belongs, since 2012, to the German SGL Group, the largest European producer of carbon fibers [1].

Nowadays, almost everything is polymer-based. Polymers have a wide applicability range, from materials to produce clothing, cars or houses, to more sophisticated ends, such as medical supplies, electronic devices, etc. Most polymers are petrochemical products and, therefore, they suffer from the same problems that all petrochemical industries are subjected, namely the constant changes in oil prices and environmental problems.

Carbon fibers are polymers containing at least 92 wt. % carbon in their composition [2]. They are a flexible, lightweight and strong material used in a numerous specialized applications such as engineering materials, aerospace, high-performance vehicles, textiles, sporting equipment, etc, as presented in Figure 1 [3][4][5]. Their raw materials are organic polymers, known as precursors, which are, basically, composed by bundles of filaments. Each filament consists of long molecular chains held by carbon atoms [6]. The most common precursor used presently is polyacrylonitrile (PAN), which corresponds to around 90 % of the overall worldwide production of carbon fibers. It leads to the best quality carbon fibers. The other 10 % are related to the use of other precursors such as rayon (regenerated cellulose), pitch (petroleum or coal based) and more recently polyolefins (polyethylene and polypropylene), with known drawbacks [4][6].



Figure 1 – Global carbon fiber market volume share by application, in percentage, in 2016 [5].

Presently, there is a trend towards increasing the use of carbon fibers in various industries, such as the automobile, aerospace and construction, replacing more traditional materials, due to some intrinsic advantages such as an excellent combination of superior mechanical properties, low density and high stability lightness, performance and superior strengths [7]. In 2015, the value of the global

carbon fiber market was USD 2.25 billion, and it is expected to grow at a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 10.9% from 2017 until 2025. The increasing use of carbon fibers, in Europe, North America and Asia, is directly related to the growth of industries, such as aerospace, wind energy and automobile, due to, not only the growth of these industries, but also due to the rapid economic development and industrialization in Asia, and due to the existence of some strict environmental regulations that emphasize the use of carbon-based composites [5][8].

Despite the expected growth, the high cost associated with the production (precursors cost represents 51 % of the manufacturing cost (Figure 2)), and the consequent market value of carbon fiber presents itself as a barrier to the spread of its use and to its larger scale production.



Carbon fiber cost breakdown

Figure 2 – Carbon fiber cost breakdown (Adapted from [9]).

As mentioned, due to oil price oscillations, environmental problems and precursor cost, carbon fibers are considered expensive materials, typically only used in specific and high-performance, high-added value materials. To reduce these problems and consequently the cost of carbon fibers, researchers have been trying to replace the fossil (petroleum-based) raw materials by natural, sustainable and renewable ones. These alternative precursors include lignin, glycerol, lignocellulosic sugars, etc.

This new generation of carbon fibers, produced with renewable and more eco-friendly precursors, will enable the reduction of the price of the fibers, making them accessible, in an economically sustainable way, for application in various industries, thus opening doors to new products and applications in several areas, while allows the reduction of the environmental (and sustainability) problems associated with the use of petroleum-based products.

1.2 Objectives

The overall goal of the present work is to develop new bio-derived materials and study their feasibility to produce carbon fiber precursors from natural resources. To achieve this main goal, a polymer and a prepolymer derived from cashew nut shell liquid waste will be synthesized, characterized and its potential as carbon fiber precursors evaluated.

1.3 Thesis Outline

There are six main chapters in this thesis. In chapter 1, the main problems associated with carbon fibers production are discussed, as well as the reasons behind the move from petroleum derived precursors to those of natural origin.

In chapter 2, a literature review about carbon fibers and its precursors is presented. First, an overall contextualization is made concerning the carbon fibers, namely related to the different manufacturing processes, as well as the properties that carbon fibers possess. Then, the main carbon fiber precursors are presented, as well as the main solutions for carbon fiber precursors, based on natural bio-resources as substitutes for petroleum-based precursors. Since the main objective of this thesis is the development (feasibility study) of precursors of sustainable and renewable origin, a briefing about cardanol-based prepolymers and polymers, as well as their potential use as precursors, is carried out. Finally, the polymerization techniques used in this work are explained.

Chapter 3 consists of the description of the materials and experimental methods employed in this thesis, which includes a brief introduction about each characterization method used.

The results obtained on the achieved samples of polycardanol and cardanol-based vinyl ester (VE) resin, are reported and discussed in chapter 4.

Finally, in chapters 5 and 6, the main conclusions and some guidelines for future work are presented, respectively.

2. Literature Review

2.1 Carbon fiber

Carbon fibers are composed by bundles of thin, strong crystalline filaments of carbon and they are typically used as reinforcement materials in high added-value applications. They are thinner than a filament of human hair, have higher stiffness, tensile strength and chemical resistance, lower weight to strength ratio and lower thermal expansion [10]. Besides these characteristics, carbon fibers are tolerant to excessive heat [10] and they are around 70 % lighter than steel (used in car components) [11] and around 40 % lighter than aluminum [11]. By using carbon fibers (normally in the form of fiber reinforced polymer matrix composites), it would be possible to reduce passenger car weight by 50 %, which would reduce the gas emissions, improving fuel efficiency in 35 % [10].

The invention of carbon fibers is attributed to Thomas Edison, in 1879, when he used cotton threads and, later, bamboo strips, cellulose-based materials (natural polymer), as filaments for the first incandescent light bulbs. These natural materials were shaped and then heated at high temperatures in a controlled atmosphere (pyrolysis) obtaining, therefore, an exact sized and shaped material, with the same chemical composition of the original material. Edison verified that this resulting filament was fire resistant and capable of withstanding the intense heat required for incandescence. Despite these characteristics, the carbon filaments in electric lightbulbs were considered inefficient and later replaced by tungsten wire [3][12].

Later, in 1959 and 1962, two manufacturing processes using rayon and PAN as precursors were developed. In 1963, the pitch-based carbon fiber was invented [3]. Since the 1960s until today many precursor materials to produce carbon fibers, such as biomass-based precursors, have been investigated. By 1980, the overall carbon fiber demand grew due mainly to the aerospace industry and, until that time, pitch was the preferred raw material, because of its price and higher char yield, when compared to the other precursors. In the 1980s, PAN started to become the most used precursor for carbon fibers due to the higher processing costs that producing a spinnable pitch requires. Rayon, despite having a lower cost as a raw material, was and still is not as widely used as PAN or pitch. This is mainly due to its inferior properties and low char yield (20 - 25%) after carbonization which result in a higher overall cost [13].

2.1.1 Carbon fiber synthesis

Even though different precursors produce carbon fibers with different properties and require different processing conditions, the general production process is similar. First, the precursor is thermally stabilized (oxidation in air) at 200 – 400 °C, being this step critical to obtain a high-quality carbon fiber. Long residence times (1 to 2 hours) are required to ensure conversion without runaway reactions and filaments fusion or breakage. These stabilized fibers are then carbonized in two steps, being subjected to a treatment at high temperatures (around 1000 °C in low temperature carbonization and ~2000 °C in high temperature carbonization) carried out in an inert atmosphere to remove non-carbon elements, such as oxygen or hydrogen. The carbonized fibers, in particular to achieve a higher carbon content and a higher Youngs's modulus. These high modulus carbon fibers (also called graphite fibers) are speciality

products for aerospace applications. The last step before spooling and packaging is the surface treatment, where the carbon fiber surfaces are electrochemically treated to increase the chemical compatibility with the composite matrix and ultimately increase the composite mechanical properties [3][14].

To synthesize a fiber, first it is necessary to convert the precursor (polymer) into a liquid or semiliquid state, either by being heated until molten or by being dissolved in a solvent [15]. The resulting liquid (viscous liquid) is then extruded using a spinneret (Figure 3). This device has a set of small holes, through which the liquid passes and then emerges, being converted into solid filaments. The process of extrusion and the filament formation is called spinning. There are several spinning techniques to produce fibers, such as solution (wet or dry) spinning, melt spinning, dry-jet spinning and emulsion spinning [16].



Figure 3 – Spinneret [17].

The solution spinning process (Figure 4) is, usually, used when the polymers are thermosets (e.g. non-thermoplastic cellulosics) and it includes the wet and the dry spinning. It started to be used industrially in the 19th century, being this the oldest fiber production method [17].

During the wet spinning process, the spinneret is generally submerged in the spin bath, into which the filaments are extruded. The solvent diffuses out of the extrudate into the bath, and a non-solvent (usually water) diffuses from the bath into the extrudate. The polymer precipitates and the filaments are formed [16][17]. This is the technique currently employed at FISIPE. In the dry spinning method, the polymer is dissolved in a solvent and the resulting solution passes through the spinneret, allowing the fibers to be extruded. As the fibers emerge through the spinneret, the solvent is evaporated with hot air. With the wet spinning, it is possible to spin a large number of fiber filaments at a time, because a single spinneret may have thousands of holes. The emerging fibers can be spun at rates slow enough to turn possible the use of larger processing equipment, such as the spin bath. On the other side, the dry spinning process has a much higher spinning rate, but less fibers are extruded at a time, in order to achieve an adequate solvent removal and drying of the fibers. For these reasons, wet spinning has a higher productivity and is highly economical, when compared to dry spinning. The latter is only being used for the production of special fibers that cannot be spun using a different method, such as spandex [16].



Figure 4 – Solution spinning process (Adapted from [18]).

The melt spinning process (Figure 5) is used when the polymers are thermoplastic synthetics (polymers that get soft and melt when heated), such as nylon or polyester [17]. In this process, the polymer granules are melted and then extruded through a spinneret into a spinning tower, where the molten polymer is going to be solidified using cold air. When compared to the other spinning methods, the melt spinning one is the most economical, due to the nonexistence of solvent to recover and because the spinning rates are higher [16].



Figure 5 – Melt spinning process (Adapted from [18]).

The other two methods are only used in specific cases, such as when the solutions have a very high solid content (dry-jet spinning) or if it is a non-melting or insoluble polymer [16].

2.1.2 Carbon fiber properties

The properties of the carbon fibers depend on the structure of the fibers. In general, carbon fibers have low density, high tensile modulus and strength, low thermal expansion coefficient, thermal stability in the absence of oxygen over 3000 °C, excellent creep resistance, chemical stability (particularly in strong acids), biocompatibility, high thermal conductivity and low electrical resistivity [2].

According to their mechanical properties, carbon fibers can be classified into different types: ultra-high modulus (UHM) (>500 GPa), high modulus (HM) (>300 GPa), intermediate modulus (IM) (>200 GPa) and high tensile strength type (HT) (>4 GPa) [3][19].

2.2 Carbon fiber precursors

2.2.1 PAN – based precursors

As mentioned before, PAN is the most used precursor to produce carbon fibers. It is obtained through the addition polymerization process of acrylonitrile (AN), either using the solution or suspension polymerization [10]. To produce carbon fibers from PAN-based precursor, the steps presented in Figure 6 are the typical ones, being the usual carbon yield around 50-60 wt. % [3]. The manufacturing process of carbon fibers from PAN-based precursors in FISIPE is demonstrated in Figure 7 and the precursors development set-up in Figure 8. Although being possible to polymerize AN, and making fibers from it, according to the several processes explained before (Section 2.1.1), PAN-based copolymers are currently employed for facilitating the process and obtaining better quality fibers. Solution and suspension polymerizations are currently the most used to prepare PAN-based copolymers [20].



Figure 6 – Manufacturing process of carbon fibers from PAN-based precursor (Adapted from [3]).



Figure 7 – FISIPE's manufacturing process of carbon fibers from PAN-based precursor [21].



Figure 8 – Carbon fiber precursors development in FISIPE [21].

Usually, for the carbon fiber manufacture, PAN is used with a comonomer, because it is difficult to process the homopolymer (polymer composed of identical monomer units [22]) PAN into a carbon fiber, due to the rapid evolution of heat during the reaction process (exothermic reaction). The use of comonomers may lead to improvements in the stabilization process, because they will act as a plasticizer and they will break up the structure, reducing the intermolecular interactions, so that the polymer solubility in the spinning solvent improves, resulting in better orientation and better mechanical properties of the precursor and the resultant carbon fibers. These comonomers should be used in minimum quantities, due to the effect that they may cause in the cyclization step, in the production process of carbon fibers [3]. Usually, the PAN-based copolymers contain a maximum of 5 mol % of the comonomer [20]. There are several compounds that can be used as comonomers, being the most effective ones the itaconic, methacrylic and acrylic acids and acrylamide, due to the presence of carboxylic groups, which facilitate the cyclization reaction in the stabilization step [3][14]. In order to obtain high-performance fibers, with the properties wanted, the selection of the monomers, the composition of the precursor polymer, molecular weights, molecular-weight distribution and spinning, drawing, stabilization and carbonization parameters are really important aspects and must be taken into account [20].

The first PAN-based fibers were developed for use in the textile industry, in the 1940s, by DuPont Company. Since then, several studies have been carried out, e.g. those by Shindo, in 1959. He studied the carbonization and graphitization of the fibers, in particular the importance of an oxidative heat treatment step before the carbonization, so the processing time could be reduced and the carbon yield improved [3][23][24].

Since Shindo's work, several researchers have been studying the use of PAN as a carbon fiber precursor, and several changes have been made in the production processes, with the aim of obtaining

fibers with better properties, more sustainable and more economically viable, which have induced an evolution in this field.

2.2.2 Pitch – based precursors

The natural pitches are obtained due to the refining of petroleum and destructive distillation of coal, being, these ones, the main pitches used as precursor for carbon fiber production [3]. The synthetic pitches are produced by pyrolysis of synthetic polymers, such as polyvinyl chloride (PVC) [3][19]. Comparing both coal and petroleum pitch, the latter is preferred despite being less aromatic, because coal pitch has a much higher benzene and quinoline-insoluble content, which usually means that the solid content is high. During the process of formation of the fiber, this solid content can accelerate coke formation, due to temperature change, which can lead to fiber breakage [19][2].

When compared to PAN, pitch has a lower material cost, higher char yield and higher degree of orientation, but the processing costs to achieve high-performance carbon fibers are higher, due mainly to pitch purification, mesophase formation and fiber spinning [3][14].

2.2.3 Rayon – based precursors

Rayon is an artificial fiber composed by cellulose, mainly from natural sources, like cotton. It was originally created to substitute silk and may, therefore, be referred to as artificial silk [15]. It is denominated a semi-synthetic fiber, because it has a long chain polymer structure with natural origin and is only modified and degraded in part by chemical processes [25]. During the manufacture process of these carbon fibers, the cellulose is dissolved chemically (wet spinning process) and then is regenerated in an acid solution [26]. The cellulose fiber precursors used have high thermal conductivity, high purity, mechanical flexibility and low cost, allowing to form strong carbon fibers. Examples of these precursors are viscose, cuprammonium rayon and saponified cellulose acetate rayon [3]. Despite being originated from cellulose, which is a renewable resource and the most abundant natural one, the produced carbon fibers have inferior properties when compared with the ones produced using PAN or pitch [13], being this the main reason why rayon is not the main carbon fiber precursor used.

2.2.4 Natural bio-resources

As mentioned throughout this thesis, the concern about the environment has been increasing, being necessary to explore new sustainable, economical and renewable alternatives to petroleum-based materials. Lignin has been the main alternative precursor studied, with the purpose of producing more eco-friendly carbon fibers.

2.2.4.1 Lignin – based precursor

Lignin (Figure 9 and Figure 10), apart from cellulose, is the second most abundant renewable resource and it is usually obtained as a by-product from pulp and paper industries [27]. It is presented as a good substitute material for PAN, the main precursor of carbon fibers, since it has a high carbon content (60 %), due to its structure composed by phenyl propane groups, it exists in abundance in nature

and presents a low cost [28][29]. Despite all these advantages, lignin has several disadvantages, being the major one the fact that it is difficult to recover it in a clean, pure form [29].



Figure 9 – Raw lignin [30].



Figure 10 – Schematic representation of lignin's structure and its structural units [31].

Studies of lignin as a carbon fiber precursor started in 1969, when Otani et al. described several methods of producing fibers from different types of lignin (hardwood Kraft lignin, softwood Kraft lignin and alkali softwood lignin) by using both dry-spinning and melt-spinning methods, and their conversion into carbon fiber, graphite fiber and activated carbon fiber [32][33]. The first commercial lignin-based carbon fibers, denominated Kayacarbon, were developed in the 1960s, in Japan. These fibers were obtained from thiolignin, alkali lignin and lignosulfonates, using polyvinyl alcohol as plasticizer and the dry-spinning method using sodium hydroxide aqueous solution as solvent. The poor mechanical properties and the fact that the other carbon fiber precursors developed more rapidly, at a lower cost and with better mechanical properties, made the project of the Kayacarbon fibers to be abandoned [32][33].

During the 1990s, some researchers developed several studies related to lignin-based carbon fibers, focusing their work on the melt spinning process, since it is simpler and cheaper than the wet or dry spinning processes. The melt spinning process requires that lignin has a certain rheology, being determined by the chemical structure and level of purity. Since lignin can come from different sources of biomass (hardwood, softwood and grasses) and different methods of extraction (Kraft, Organosolv, steam explosion), it is possible to find lignin with different levels of purity and various chemical structures. This means that different biomass sources will lead to lignin with different ratios of monomer units and therefore, depending on the extraction method, lignin will have different levels of fragmentation and degradation, which will affect molecular weight, functional groups, condensation, intermolecular linkages, types and ratios of monomers and, consequently, will lead to variations at the level of fiber precursor and resulting carbon fiber properties [33][34][35].

These initial studies served as base for several strategies that have been developed over the years to improve the use of lignin as a precursor, among which lignin purification and fractionation, chemical and thermal modifications of lignin, polymer blending and fillers [34].

2.3 Cardanol-based prepolymer and polymers

Cashew nut shell liquid (CNSL) is a by-product of the cashew nut industry, constituted mainly by phenolic compounds, with a long side chain substitution at the meta position, such as anacardic acid, cardol, cardanol and 2-methylcardol (Figure 11).



Figure 11 – CNSL main components (Adapted from [36]).

According to the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations [37], between 1994 and 2014, the global production of cashew nut increased since 1,174,348 to 3,713,467 tonnes/year, corresponding to an increase of more than 300 %, as presented in Figure 12 [37], confirming that the

worldwide production of cashew nuts is growing. The major producers, between 1994 and 2014, were Vietnam, India, Nigeria, Côte d'Ivoire and Brazil, as visible in Figure 13 [37]. Due to being a cheap agricultural by-product of renewable resources and widely available, CNSL is a good substitute to petroleum derived phenols, and can be used as a raw material in a wide range of applications, for example, surface coatings, paints and primers, additives, resin synthesis and polymers [36][38][39].



Figure 12 - World area harvested and production of cashew nuts, between 1994 and 2014 [37].



Figure 13 – Top 10 producers of cashew nuts, between 1994 and 2014 [37].

CNSL is heat treated, which induces the partial decarboxylation of anacardic acid, and then purified through distillation, resulting in an industrial grade cardanol, as shown in Figure 14 [40][41]. Cardanol can be used as a raw material for the production of polymers, either by using a step-growth polymerization mechanism (condensation), through the aromatic ring, or by using a chain polymerization mechanism (addition) through the unsaturations of the cardanol side chain (C₁₅H₃₁*). Cardanol's step-growth polymerization can be performed through reactions with OH groups, or with electrophiles, such as aldehydes (formaldehyde), while cardanol chain polymerization can be performed by ionic initiation opening double bond [42].



Figure 14 – Cashew nut shell liquid technology (Adapted from [41]).

As cardanol is the major component of CNSL, its use in resin production is of high interest. The cardanol-based resins can be epoxy, phenolic, vinyl, etc [36][40].

Epoxy resins are thermosetting materials (polymers that once cured cannot be melted or remolded, and that are resistant to solvents [43].) for which the precursors contain at least one epoxy function, that is highly reactive. At the present time, around 90 % of the world's production of epoxy resin is based on the reaction of Bisphenol A (BPA) with epichlorohydrin, obtaining DGEBA resin [44]. This type of resin can be used in a wide range of applications, due to its exceptional properties. However, there has been a growing concern related with the utilization of BPA in polymers, in addition to its increased cost, leading to a higher cost of the epoxy resin, which has been concerning the industry and the customers. Thus, the utilization of natural and renewable materials to synthesize epoxy resins is under development [45]. Cardanol-based epoxy resins can be used as protective coating materials, auto primers, linings for cans, drums and pipes, potting and encapsulation of electrical and electronic components, and in electrical laminates. These epoxy resins synthesized with cardanol were claimed to have superior characteristics then the regular ones [46].

As for phenolic resins, they are typically prepared through the reaction of formaldehyde with phenol. These resins can be synthesized under both alkaline or acidic conditions. If it is an alkaline catalyst, the resin prepared is named Resol and has a formaldehyde/phenol ratio higher than 1. If, on the other hand, it is an acidic catalyst, the resin prepared is named Novolac and the formaldehyde/phenol ratio is between 0,75 and 0,85 [44][47][48]. With the purpose of increasing the eco-friendly profile of phenolic resins and to enhance their properties and performance, researchers have been studying the partial, and to some extent, total substitution of phenol by bio-based phenolic compounds, such as cardanol [47]. When compared with the regular phenolic resins, cardanol-based resins have better flexibility, due to the internal plasticizing effect of the long chain, which leads to a

better processing capacity. In addition, cardanol-based resins possess other valuable characteristics, such as the existence of the side chain, which provides the hydrophobic behavior to the resin, heat and electrical resistance, antimicrobial properties, high-resistance to acids and alkalis, etc. However, in some structural applications, cardanol-based resins have lower tensile strength than conventional phenolic resins, which is thought to be due to the steric hindrance, caused by the side chain, and due to the reduced intermolecular interactions between the main and side chains. To overcome these problems, natural fibers have been added to cardanol-based resins, such as ramie, flax or jute [44]. More recently, researchers have been reporting new studies with modified phenolic resins, with synthesis of phenolic resins using cardanol and a different compound (such as bismaleimide or maleic anhydride) or a different catalyst (for example, para-toluenesulfonic acid). All these modifications on the synthesis have resulted in improved mechanical properties of the phenolic resins [44][46].

Vinyl ester resins are one of the most important classes of thermosetting polymers, combining the chemical, mechanical and thermal properties of epoxy resins with the rapid cure of unsaturated polyester resins [49]. The conventional vinyl ester resins are prepared by the reaction of DGEBA epoxy resin with methacrylic acid, and are used in a wide number of applications, such as surface coatings, adhesives and composites. Cardanol is, among the renewable resources, used to prepare thermosetting polymers [50]. The use of cardanol or other renewable resource might reduce the use of harmful chemicals, such as styrene, during curing of the vinyl ester resins. Besides this fact, cardanol can improve the mechanical properties of the resin, producing more eco-friendly polymers, and lowering its cost [49].

As mentioned, the use of cardanol in resin production is of high interest, not only because of being a natural bio-resource, but also due to the improvement that causes in the mechanical properties of the resins. Because of these facts, it is believed that cardanol is a potential substitute for petroleum-based carbon fiber precursors.

So, in this thesis, cardanol is going to be explored as a functional bio-derived molecule, to produce a prepolymer (cardanol-based vinyl ester resin) and a polymer (polycardanol) dedicated to be carbon fiber precursors. While polycardanol could potentially be mixed with PAN to obtain carbon fiber, the cardanol-based vinyl ester resin, or prepolymer, is a kind of bio-based aromatic building block for further free radical polymerization with acrylonitrile, forming a co-polymer.

2.4 Polymerization techniques used

Carbon fiber precursors are polymers, or more typically copolymers, most of the times of synthetic origin. According to the polymerization mechanism, synthesized polymers are classified into addition polymers (reaction between the monomers) or condensation polymers (reaction between two functional groups to form a different functional group, with loss of a small molecule) [51][52]. The condensation term has been replaced by step-growth (only one type of reaction is involved in the synthesis of the polymer and the reaction proceeds step by step) and the addition term by chain-growth (polymer is formed through a chain reaction, wherein growth proceeds only by reaction between the monomers and the reactive site of the polymer chain). With this new classification, it is possible to

include polymers that are synthesized according to a step-reaction mechanism without the elimination of small molecules (H₂O, HCl, etc) [51][53].

During the 1940s and 1950s, researchers discovered an important new type of chain-growth polymerization, the free radical. Free radical polymerization includes three major steps: initiation (decomposition of initiator molecules, in order to form very active radicals, that can initiate a new polymer chain), propagation (addition reaction that creates the polymer chain through a series of fast steps of monomer addition over the propagating radical) and termination (combination of a polymer chain radical with the initiator radical or with another macro radical) [51][52].

In this thesis, both the prepolymer and the polycardanol were synthesized through a step-growth polymerization. Despite being the same type of polymerization, there are some differences. The major difference between both is that, for the synthesis of polycardanol, the monomer and the structural unit are identical (self-polymerization), with the polymerization being performed between OH groups, and in the other polymerization, the monomer reacts with acrylic acid, in the presence of an inhibitor, to prevent self-polymerization [50].

3. Materials and Experimental methods

3.1 Materials

Cardanol NX-9001 and epoxidized cardanol NC-514 (EEW=490 g/eq [54]) were obtained from Cardolite Corporation and used as supplied. Sodium hydroxide (NaOH) (min. 99 %) was obtained from Riedel-de-Haën and used as received. Triphenylphosphine (TPP) (99 %) and hydroquinone (\geq 99 %) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and used as supplied. Acrylic acid (AA), sodium chloride (NaCl) (min. 99.5 %) and potassium carbonate (K₂CO₃) (min. 99 %) were obtained from Merck and used as received.

3.2 Experimental methods

3.2.1 Synthesis of prepolymer cardanol-based VE resin

The preparation method of the vinyl ester prepolymer resin was adapted from reference [55], being the reaction scheme for the synthesis represented in Figure 15. The experimental set-up is presented in Figure 16. Around 20 g (0,035 mol) of epoxidized cardanol were mixed with 11 g (0,15 mol) of AA, hydroquinone (0,25 % by weight of the resin) and TPP (1 % by weight of the resin) in a 3-neck round bottom flask at 80 °C and kept under mechanical stirring (175 rpm) for about 12 h. To remove the unreacted AA, the obtained prepolymer was dissolved in chloroform, treated with K₂CO₃ and stirred for 2 h at 30 °C. The AA in the salt form was extracted with water (decantation) and the chloroform was evaporated under vacuum in a rotary evaporator at RT.



Cardanol-based vinyl ester resin

Figure 15 - Reaction scheme for cardanol-based VE resin (Adapted from [50]).



Figure 16 – Experimental set-up for the cardanol-based VE resin.

3.2.2 Synthesis of polycardanol

Polycardanol was prepared by a similar method as the one presented in [56], being the reaction scheme for the synthesis represented in Figure 17. The experimental set-ups for the polymerization and with the Soxhlet extractor are presented in Figure 18. Approximately, 0.3 g of cardanol NX-9001 were dissolved in an aqueous solution of NaOH (2 g NaOH / 100 mL H₂O) and the temperature was raised to 50 °C. Then, at this temperature, potassium ferricyanide (oxidation agent) (0.658 g) was added and the mixture was mechanically stirred for 6 h at 175 rpm. The polymer formed was salted with NaCl, following by washing with water and filtration with the objective of removing any residual NaCl. To remove the unreacted monomer, the polymer was washed with hexane in a Soxhlet extractor for around 24 h [56].



Figure 17 – Reaction scheme for polycardanol synthesis (Adapted from [56]).



Figure 18 – Experimental set-ups for polycardanol's reaction and with the Soxhlet extractor.

3.3 Characterization methods

3.3.1 Attenuated Total Reflectance - Fourier-Transformed Infrared (ATR-FTIR) Spectroscopy

Fourier Transformed Infrared (FTIR) Spectroscopy is based on the vibrations of the atoms of a molecule. It allows to obtain information about the various functional groups present in a sample [57]. In a simple way, the spectrometer's operation consists in passing a beam of IR radiation through a sample and comparing it with the one transmitted with no sample (reference). The spectrum obtained by FTIR spectroscopy is composed by the absorption peaks of a compound. These peaks correspond to the frequencies of vibration that exists between the bonds of the atoms that compose the sample. Since each compound has its unique combination of functional groups, the spectrum obtained represents somewhat a fingerprint of the material, meaning that two compounds will not produce an exact same infrared spectrum. In this way, FTIR is very useful in the identification of different materials [58]. In this work, since the samples obtained are in the bulk form, FTIR spectroscopy by attenuated total reflectance (ATR) was the employed technique. In ATR, the IR radiation impinges on the surface region of the sample to analyze and the reflected radiation is collected by the ATR accessory, resulting in the characteristic ATR-FTIR spectrum of such sample.

The ATR-FTIR spectra were obtained using a PerkinElmer, Spectrum Two, FTIR spectrometer equipped with a Pike Technologies Miracle® Attenuated Total Reflectance (ATR) accessory, between 4000 and 600 cm⁻¹, with 8 cm⁻¹ of resolution and 8 scans.

3.3.2 Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR) Spectroscopy

Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR) Spectroscopy is a technique that has been revealed as a powerful aid in the structural characterization of all types of chemical compounds. Usually, either carbon or hydrogen spectra are the most useful. However, it is also possible to obtain information, in some cases, through fluorine, phosphorus, silicon or nitrogen spectra [59].

The nucleus of a compound is forced to behave as a bar magnet, due to the magnetic moment. In the absence of an external magnetic field, each magnet is randomly oriented, but when a compound is placed under the action of a magnetic field, this field forces its nucleus to align in favor (low energy) or against (high energy) the same. When an electromagnetic radiation is applied, with a specific frequency, the atomic nucleus of the compound absorbs energy through a process called magnetic resonance, which may lead to a change in its orientation. By detecting the absorption signals, it is possible to obtain the respective NMR spectrum [60][61][62].

For a molecule, the magnetic field felt by the nuclei does not correspond to the one applied, since there is not only a shielding effect by the electrons, but also the influence of the neighboring atoms is felt. Therefore, there will be a change in the absorption frequency of radiation by the nuclei [62]. The value at which the different nuclei absorb is given on a relative scale, in order to standardize the NMR spectra. This value is called chemical shift and its value is given in units of ppm. Through the peaks that constitute the NMR spectrum it is thus possible to infer about the chemical environment of the analyzed species (C, H, etc.) and, therefore, about the chemical structure of the compound that is being studied [63].

¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra were recorded on a Bruker Advanced spectrometer, operating at 500 MHz, with deuterated chloroform as solvent.

3.3.3 Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA)

Thermogravimetry, TGA, is an analysis technique used to assess the thermal stability of the materials, where the change in the mass of a substance is monitored as a function of the temperature (or time) at which it is subject, under a controlled atmosphere (nitrogen, or air). The obtained thermogram gives information about the weight loss (in percentage) at different temperatures and over time. It is applicable to most industries, being mainly used in environmental, food, pharmaceutical and petrochemical industries [64][65].

The major limitations of TGA are the difficulty to measure some liquids, the fact that the samples used are very small, so generally non-homogeneous materials cannot be accurately tested, and also the fact that it is only possible to obtain significant data when a change in the mass sample occurs [66].

TGA thermograms were obtained using a Hitachi STA7200 equipment, in nitrogen atmosphere and at a heating rate of 10 °C/min.

3.3.4 Differential Thermal Analysis (DTA)

Differential Thermal Analysis (DTA) is a technique that measures the difference in temperature between a sample and an inert reference. This differential temperature occurs due to the different heat capacities of both sample and reference, and it is measured as a function of time or temperature, as both cells are subjected to similar conditions, where the temperature increases or decreases at a controlled rate. DTA is used to study thermal properties and phase changes, because it is possible to detect the sample's transition temperature and the reaction temperature from the differential temperature signal obtained. In the graphs obtained, when the DTA signal has a negative direction means that the sample had an endothermic change, and if the direction of the signal is positive, the change was exothermic [67][68].

DTA thermograms were obtained using a Hitachi STA7200 equipment, in nitrogen atmosphere and at a heating rate of 10 °C/min.

3.3.5 Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC)

Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC) is a thermal analysis technique used to understand how the heat capacity of a material changes when it is exposed to a regulated increase or decrease in temperature [69]. This analytical technique can be considered an evolution of DTA. The DSC technique allows the detection of transitions, which includes melts, glass transitions, phase changes and curing. Since most materials exhibit some transitions, DSC is used in a wide range of industries, such as polymers, pharmaceuticals, food, paper, printing, manufacturing, agriculture, semiconductors and electronics [70]. The chamber of the DSC equipment is composed by a sample cell, containing the material under study, and a reference cell. During a DSC analysis, the temperature in both cells is raised identically over time. The difference between the energy required for the sample cell, when compared with the reference cell, represents the amount of heat in excess that is being released (exothermic reaction) or absorbed (endothermic reaction) by the material in the sample [69]. The major advantage of this technique is that it is an easy and fast method to observe transitions in materials [70]. As for limitations, DSC is very sensitive to any change in the sample or pan, requires a very good thermal contact with the bottom of the sample pan and it is also very sensitive to the heating rate [66].

DSC thermograms were performed using a TA DSC Q20 equipment, with a heating rate of 5 °C/min, in an air atmosphere, and using hermetic pans.

21

4. Results and Discussion

4.1 Characterization of the prepolymer cardanol-based VE resin



4.1.1 Characterization by ATR-FTIR



The ATR-FTIR spectra of cardanol NC-514 and of the cardanol-based VE resin are shown in Figure 19. In both, the large band peaked around 3400 cm⁻¹ denoted the existence of hydroxyl groups (OH), which indicates the presence of water. Besides this, around 1639 cm⁻¹, in the VE resin spectrum, appears a small peak also related to the existence of OH groups from water. In the VE resin spectrum, these peaks have higher intensity, which could come, for instance, from the OH groups formed by the oxirane ring opening, and from the presence of water used for the decantation step (which was not totally removed at the rotary evaporator operation). The peaks at 2925 and 2853 cm⁻¹ are attributed to the presence of CH, CH₂ and CH₃ groups, and, in the VE resin spectrum these peaks have lower intensity. Around 1730 cm⁻¹ a peak appears and might be due to the presence of an ester group (C=O), in this case an acrylate, which can mean that the ring opening reaction of the epoxy groups occurred, as intended. The same finding was reported in reference [71]. The absence of the peaks at 909, 859 and 846 cm⁻¹, in the VE resin spectrum, which are characteristic peaks of C-O-C linkage in the epoxy ring, also confirms the opening of the oxirane groups, meaning that the reaction was well succeeded. The presence of aromatic C=C bonds can be confirmed by the band at 1560 – 1636 cm⁻¹, which leads to the conclusion that the reaction (acrylation) only occurred through the opening of the epoxy groups, as intended, and not through the C=C bonds of the aromatic ring. The presence of a peak at 810 cm⁻¹ might be related to para substitution in the aromatic ring.

4.1.2 Characterization by NMR



Figure 20 – ¹H-NMR of the cardanol-based VE resin in deuterated chloroform, CDCl₃.

The ¹H-NMR spectrum of the cardanol-based VE resin is presented in Figure 20. The peaks that compose this spectrum have a lower defined resolution and are broader, when compared to the resolution of a smaller molecule spectrum, such as a monomer. Since the resolution is lower it might indicate that the sample analyzed is constituted by bigger molecules (prepolymer). The multiplet peaks between 4.00 and 4.70 ppm region were attributed to the (-OCH₂-) protons and the tertiary (-CH(OH)-) proton of the (phenyl-OCH₂-CH(OH)-CH₂O-(C=O)-) moiety. The presence of these peaks also confirms the oxirane ring opening reaction and the resulting acrylation reaction, corroborating the ATR-FTIR results.

The presence of g and h signals, corresponding to the acrylate end group, reveals the acrylation reaction. The average number of acrylate units in the VE resin unit was calculated from the integration of the peaks of ethylene protons of the acrylate end group (I_g) and (I_h), and the integration of the peak of terminal methyl protons of the aliphatic side chain (I_a) of the ¹H-NMR spectrum (Annex II). Thus, the functionality of the VE resin unit was calculated using the following equation. [55]

$$F = \frac{I_g + I_h}{I_a} \times \frac{\text{number of ethyl protons of the acrylate end group}}{\text{number of terminal methyl protons of the aliphatic side chain}} = \frac{1.26 + 1.02}{3.00} \times \frac{3}{2} = 1.14$$

Considering an epoxy functionality of cardanol NC-514 at 1.32 [55], the acrylate functionality of the obtained VE resin corresponds to about 86 % of conversion of epoxy groups, revealing that the reaction (acrylation) did occur as intended, but it was not fully completed.

In Figure 21 the ¹³C-NMR spectrum of the resin is shown. The absence of peaks between 40 and 50 ppm indicates that the epoxy groups of the cardanol NC-514 were found to open, which confirms that the functionalization reaction occurred as intended and was well succeeded. Besides this, the peaks between 110 and 170 ppm represent the carbon atoms of the aromatic ring, being possible to conclude that the polymerization only occurred through the opening of the epoxy groups, as intended, and not through the double bonds of the aromatic ring.

The conclusions drawn from both ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectra of the VE resin are consistent with those obtained from the ATR-FTIR spectrum.



Figure 21 – ¹³C-NMR of the cardanol-based VE resin in deuterated chloroform, CDCl₃.

4.1.3 Characterization by TGA



Figure 22 – TG analysis of cardanol NC-514 and of the VE resin, at 10 °C/min in N₂.

Figure 22 shows both thermograms of cardanol NC-514 and of the VE resin produced. The weight loss around 100 °C observed in the thermogram of the VE resin is related to the presence of unremoved water. This water was added with the intention of removing the unreacted acrylic acid. The char yield obtained, at 550 °C, is 14.2 %, but if the water had been successfully removed, the char yield, at 550 °C, would be ca. 38.4 %, i.e. much higher than for the original cardanol epoxy resin (cardanol NC-514). This means that the acrylation reaction performed on the epoxidized cardanol resin, besides providing vinyl functionality for copolymerization with acrylonitrile, also leads to a higher char yield at high temperatures.

It should be noted that the RMN results of the developed cardanol-based VE resin have shown that the acrylation reaction was occurring only at 86 % (approximately), which means that some of the weight loss occurring at temperatures below 400 °C could be due to acrylic acid species, or other compounds present in the resulting pre-polymer that were not successfully eliminated during the rotary evaporator. In future experiments, besides adding more acrylic acid and increasing the reaction time (for a higher reaction yield), the rotary evaporation and washing procedure should be improved to get rid of all unwanted species.

Figure 23, is adapted from the literature and shows a thermogram from PAN (typical material of commercial carbon fiber precursors, produced by FISIPE), which shows an abrupt weight loss right above 300 °C and a char yield at 550 °C of ca. 50 %.



Figure 23 – TG analysis of PAN (Adapted from [72]).

4.1.4 Characterization by DTA



Figure 24 – DTA analysis of cardanol NC-514 and of the VE resin, at 10 °C/min in N2.

DTA analysis of cardanol NC-514 and of the VE resin are presented in Figure 24. Cardanol's curve shows an exothermic peak at 341 °C, being attributed to the cleavage of the alkyl side chain of the aromatic ring [73].

As for the VE resin's curve, it is quite complex and shows numerous endo and exothermic peaks. There is a small endothermic peak around 100 °C, which might be related to the evaporation of the water present in the sample, as well as volatile solvent, namely chloroform, in line with what was shown in the TGA thermogram.

4.1.5 Characterization by DSC



Figure 25 – DSC curve obtained for the cardanol-based VE resin, at 5 °C/min in air.

The DSC curve obtained for the VE resin (Figure 25) shows two endothermic processes, at around 160 °C and 250 °C, and an exothermic process, at around 200 °C. The first endotherm, quite well defined, is typical of a melting process, which could be ascribed to some lower molecular weight moieties, or impurities of the VE resin sample, while the second endotherm could be ascribed to more cross-linked moieties.

The DSC parameters employed in this analysis, namely the low scanning rate, are not optimized for the study of the glass transition temperature (Tg). However, there is a weak transition at around 80 °C, which is quite in line with the literature [55].



Figure 26 – DSC thermograms of cardanol-based VE resin and PFC, at 5 ºC/min in air.

The DSC thermogram of the cardanol-based VE resin obtained in this work was compared with those of a typical commercial carbon fiber precursor, named throughout the text "PFC" (based on PAN), supplied by FISIPE, and also with those, found at the literature, for pitch and rayon based precursors.

PFC's thermogram (Figure 26) exhibits a clear and intense exothermic peak at around 280°C, characteristic of the cyclization process of PAN, while for the cardanol-based VE resin all transitions are just slightly intense, or even residual, when compared to that of PAN. There is an exothermic process starting at ca. 400 °C, which could not be followed, since this is the upper limit temperature for the DSC analysis in this equipment, when the refrigeration system is employed. That, hypothetically, could give rise to a strong exotherm, but at higher temperature than for PAN, which could be acceptable if the polymer would not degrade up to such temperature. Such difference in terms of exothermic transition (cyclization process) is, therefore, not indicative that the pre-polymer developed in this work will not be feasible as carbon fiber precursor.

In fact, when comparing the cardanol-based VE resin's DSC thermogram with that of coal tar pitch, present in the literature and presented in Figure 27, it is possible to verify that the latter, at around 400 °C, also exhibits a starting exothermic process. This can indicate that the VE resin obtained in this work might have a behavior similar to pitch, a well-established carbon fiber precursor.



Figure 27 – DSC thermogram of coal tar pitch (Adapted from [74]).

The same finding was observed for rayon-based carbon fiber precursor. Figure 28 shows its thermogram, which also does not exhibit any exothermic process below 400 °C, in line with what happens for the cardanol-based VE resin, but also does not show any melting related peak below 300 °C, in opposition to what is observed for the VE resin.



Figure 28 – DSC thermogram of rayon-based carbon fiber precursor (Adapted from [75]).

4.2 Characterization of the polycardanol



4.2.1 Characterization by ATR-FTIR

Figure 29 – ATR-FTIR analysis of cardanol NX-9001 and polycardanol.

The ATR-FTIR spectra of cardanol NX-9001 and of polycardanol are shown in Figure 29. In both spectra, the peak around 3400 cm⁻¹ is due to the stretching vibrations of the hydroxyl (OH) groups, e.g. from phenolic group. Since the peak in the polycardanol spectrum is wider than the one in cardanol NX-9001 spectrum, it means that, besides the existence of OH linkage from the phenolic groups, water could also be present, probably from the NaOH aqueous solution used as the polymerization medium. The existence of this peak in the polycardanol spectrum indicates that, possibly, there is not a C-O-C coupling, meaning that the polymerization (by condensation reactions between OH groups of the phenol units) did not occur as desired. The characteristic peaks around 3009, 2923 and 2853 cm⁻¹, existent in both spectra, are attributed to the alkyl side chain present either in cardanol NX-9001 and in polycardanol, being the CH stretching vibration of alkene responsible for the peak at 3009 cm⁻¹. The peaks between around 1608 and 1450 cm⁻¹ correspond to the C=C bonds of the aromatic ring. Both spectra exhibit some characteristic peaks at 1240 and 1190 cm⁻¹, which correspond to the vibration of C(Ar)-O-C(Ar) bonds, and at 1155 cm⁻¹ attributed to C(Ar)-OH linkage. All the peaks referred before, have similar intensity in both spectra, which might mean that the polymerization did not significantly occur, and that the "polycardanol" obtained is mainly constituted by the monomer, cardanol NX-9001, or some oligomeric units.

4.2.2 Characterization by NMR



The ¹H-NMR spectrum of polycardanol is shown in Figure 30. When comparing the peaks in this spectrum with a typical spectrum of a resin, such that of Figure 20, it is possible to verify that the latter is broader and has lower resolution. This shows the almost nonexistent polymerization in the synthesis of polycardanol. In addition to this, the presence of two sharp peaks around 4.0 ppm may indicate that the sample analyzed might be mainly constituted by the monomer, cardanol NX-9001, however the broad, but weak signal in the background of these two peaks might reveal the presence of some oligomeric species, as well. This means that the polymerization did not occurred in the intended extension.

Figure 31 shows both ¹³C-NMR and DEPT C-NMR of polycardanol. In a DEPT (Distortionless Enhancement of Polarization Transfer) spectrum, CH and CH₃ peaks appear as normal, but CH₂ peaks appear inverted, allowing, this technique, to determine the number of hydrogen atoms linked to each carbon. In the ¹³C-NMR spectrum, the peaks that appear between 12 and 30 ppm represent the saturated carbon bonds and the ones between 110 and 160 ppm represent the unsaturated carbon bonds [76]. The peak at 145 ppm represents the carbon of the aromatic ring which is linked to the hydroxyl group. The existence of this peak may reveal that the polymerization extension was not as planned. Besides this fact, in DEPT C-NMR it is possible to observe the presence of two inverted peaks, meaning the presence of CH₂. The peaks between 60 and 70 ppm are attributed to C-O-C linkages, which could mean that some polymerization had occurred, since this polymerization implies C(Ar)-O-C(Ar). The presence of the two inverted peaks in DEPT C-NMR between 60 and 70 ppm shows, as mentioned, that those carbon atoms are not from an aromatic ring, but from a CH₂ group, demonstrating that a total polymerization may have not occurred.



Figure 31 – a) ¹³C-NMR and b) DEPT C-NMR of polycardanol in deuterated chloroform, CDCl₃.

4.2.3 Characterization by TGA



Figure 32 – TG analysis of cardanol NX-9001 and polycardanol, at 10 °C/min in N₂.

Figure 32 shows the comparison between TG thermograms of cardanol NX-9001 and polycardanol. It is possible to observe that up to a temperature of 135 °C, there was a release of the solvent used in the Soxhlet extraction (hexane), as well as release of water, from the addition of the same for removal of NaCl. If this removal had been effective, it is estimated that, at 550 °C, the char yield would be 16.3 %. However, the achieved char yield in the present sample is only 4.4 %. It should also be noted that the yield obtained, even when the solvents are effectively removed, is lower than that

shown in the reference [55] (25 %), but higher than that of cardanol NX-9001, which might suggest that some oligomeric, or polymeric (polycardanol) species are present.

Cardanol NX-9001 has two stages of degradation, the first at 249 °C and the second at 387 °C, being the first one attributed to the aliphatic side chain degradation, and the second attributed to the aromatic ring degradation. Polycardanol, on the other hand, exhibits a more gradual weight loss, starting at a lower temperature range, than in cardanol NX-9001. If a total polymerization had occurred, the average molecular weight would be significantly higher than that of the monomer, leading to a higher thermal stability when compared with cardanol NX-9001.

The results obtained through TGA are consistent with those obtained through ATR-FTIR and through NMR, since, for example, the peaks at 1240 and 1150 cm⁻¹ from ATR-FTIR spectrum, corresponding to the C(Ar)-O-C(Ar) bonds, are not much higher than those in cardanol NX-9001, which indicates that the polymerization of cardanol was not complete.



4.2.4 Characterization by DTA

Figure 33 – DTA analysis of cardanol NX-9001 and polycardanol, at 10 °C/min in N2.

In Figure 33 both DTA curves of cardanol NX-9001 and polycardanol are presented. Cardanol's curve has an exothermic peak around 353 °C, that can be attributed to the cleavage of the alkyl side chain of the aromatic ring [73]. Besides this peak, it has smaller endothermic peaks at 430 °C and 468 °C. Despite not having such a defined exothermic peak around 350 °C, polycardanol's curve is similar to the one of cardanol NX-9001. This fact might indicate, as concluded through the other methods, that polycardanol is mainly composed by monomers of cardanol and some oligomeric compounds.

4.2.5 Characterization by DSC



Figure 34 – DSC curve obtained for polycardanol, at 5 °C/min in air.

The DSC curve obtained for polycardanol (Figure 34) shows a small exothermic process, at around 160 °C, and a small endothermic process, at around 265 °C. The former one (exo) could be related to some crystallization occurring (it has been reported that the conversion of the monomers to polycardanol has not occurred at a full extent), while the latter one (endo) could be related to a melting process.

The DSC thermogram of polycardanol sample obtained in this work was compared with those of a typical commercial carbon fiber precursor, PFC (based on PAN) (Figure 35), supplied by FISIPE, and also with those, found at the literature, for pitch and rayon based precursors.



Figure 35 – DSC thermogram of polycardanol and PAN, at 5 °C/min in air.

As explained before, PFC sample exhibits a thermogram with a clear and intense exotherm peaked at around 280 °C, characteristic of the cyclization process of PAN, while for polycardanol all transitions are weak, or even residual, when compared to that of PAN.

As for the DSC thermogram of polycardanol, it is interesting to note an exothermic process starting at ca. 400 °C, which could not be followed, since this is the upper limit temperature for the DSC analysis in the equipment used, when the refrigeration system is employed. That, hypothetically, could give rise to a strong exotherm, but as higher temperature than for PAN, which could be acceptable if the polymer does not degrade at such high temperature. This is, therefore, not indicative that polycardanol might not be feasible as carbon fiber precursor.

Comparing both DSC thermograms of polycardanol and of coal tar pitch (Figure 27) it is possible to verify, in both of them, the presence of a starting exothermic process around 400 °C, which may indicate that polycardanol might have a similar behavior to pitch, i.e. might be acceptable as a carbon fiber precursor.

The same finding was observed for rayon-based carbon fiber precursor. Figure 28 shows its thermogram, which also does not exhibit any exothermic process below 400 °C, in line with what happens for polycardanol, and shows an endothermic peak at 350 °C, contrary to what is observed for polycardanol.

5. Conclusions

In this thesis, a feasibility study was carried out. In particular, two different materials were developed to be studied as sustainable carbon fiber bio-derived precursors. Both compounds were characterized through various methods, ATR-FTIR, NMR, TGA, DTA and DSC.

The selected bio-source employed in this work was cardanol, derived from cashew nutshell liquid waste, namely polyol cardanol NX-9001 and epoxidized cardanol resin NC-514.

Through all the characterization methods applied it is possible to conclude that, the synthesis of a polymer resultant from condensation of cardanol (polycardanol) was not so efficient, but the acrylation reaction (functionalization) of cardanol-based epoxy resin was effectively achieved in this work (86 % of epoxy groups conversion), giving rise to a cardanol-based VE prepolymer.

The obtained prepolymer might be co-polymerized with acrylonitrile, in a near future, and might result in acceptable quality carbon fibers.

6. Future Work

In order to obtain more information regarding the composition of the synthesized polycardanol sample, namely the presence of oligomeric, or polymeric species, NMR diffusion experiments (Dosy) could be performed.

Regarding cardanol-based VE resin, in order to improve the cardanol polymerization reaction, more quantity of acrylic acid and longer reaction time, will be employed, and other forms of ester group sources will be tested.

In a next step, cardanol-based VE resin, will be copolymerized, initially in batch, with acrylonitrile, to produce carbon fibers. The properties of these new fibers will be studied and compared with the commercial PAN-based carbon fibers, in order to verify if the copolymer resin/AN would be an acceptable substitute for PAN.

7. References

- [1] "FISIPE." [Online]. Available: http://www.fisipe.pt/gca/?id=1. [Accessed: 26-Sep-2017].
- [2] D. D. L. Chung, Carbon Fiber Composites, 1st ed. Newton: Elsevier, pp. 3 65, 1994.
- [3] S.-J. Park, *Carbon Fibers*, vol. 210. Incheon: Springer, 2015.
- [4] A. Milbrandt and S. Booth, "Carbon Fiber from Biomass," *Clean Energy Manufacturing Analysis Center*, 2016. [Online]. Available: https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy16osti/66386.pdf. [Accessed: 24-Mar-2017].
- [5] "Carbon Fiber Market Analysis," 2017. [Online]. Available: http://www.grandviewresearch.com/industry-analysis/carbon-fiber-market-analysis. [Accessed: 04-Dec-2017].
- [6] "How is carbon fiber made?," 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.thoughtco.com/how-iscarbon-fiber-made-820391. [Accessed: 10-May-2017].
- [7] "Chemical Economics Handbook Carbon Fibers," 2016. [Online]. Available: https://www.ihs.com/products/carbon-fibers-chemical-economics-handbook.html. [Accessed: 26-Sep-2017].
- [8] "Carbon Fiber Market worth 8.00 Billion USD by 2026." [Online]. Available: https://www.marketsandmarkets.com/PressReleases/carbon-fiber.asp. [Accessed: 04-Dec-2017].
- X. Dong and I. Luzi, "Where dreams are made of carbon fiber," 2016. [Online]. Available: http://news.medill.northwestern.edu/chicago/where-dreams-are-made-of-carbon-fiber/.
 [Accessed: 10-May-2017].
- [10] "What is carbon fiber?" [Online]. Available: http://www.innovativecomposite.com/what-is-carbonfiber/. [Accessed: 12-May-2017].
- [11] "Why carbon fiber?" [Online]. Available: http://plasancarbon.com/why-carbon-fiber. [Accessed: 12-May-2017].
- [12] "A patent that changed an industry." [Online]. Available: http://www.wipo.int/ipadvantage/en/details.jsp?id=2909. [Accessed: 09-May-2017].
- [13] P. J. Walsh, "Carbon Fibers," in ASM Handbook, vol. 21, D. B. Miracle and S. L. Donaldson, Eds. 2001, pp. 35–40.
- [14] X. Huang, "Fabrication and properties of carbon fibers," *Materials*, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 2369–2403, 2009.
- [15] "How to manufacture synthetic fibres?" [Online]. Available: http://www.preservearticles.com/201012291929/synthetic-fibres-manufacturing.html.
 [Accessed: 18-Aug-2017].
- [16] "Man-made fiber." [Online]. Available: https://www.britannica.com/technology/man-madefiber#toc82574. [Accessed: 18-Aug-2017].
- [17] "Introduction of Synthetic Fiber|Production Process of Different Synthetic Fibers." [Online].
 Available: http://textilelearner.blogspot.pt/2011/03/production-process-of-synthetic-fiber_9386.html. [Accessed: 18-Aug-2017].
- [18] J. Huang, D. G. Baird, J. E. Mcgrath, S. Mecham, and F. L. Paulauskas, "Melt Spinning of

Polyacrylonitrile Carbon Fiber Precursors," 2014. [Online]. Available: http://www.polyacs.net/Workshops/14APAMMMat/images/Speakers/14LectureBaird.pdf. [Accessed: 18-Aug-2017].

- [19] E. Frank, F. Hermanutz, and M. R. Buchmeiser, "Carbon fibers: Precursors, manufacturing, and properties," *Macromol. Mater. Eng.*, vol. 297, no. 6, pp. 493–501, 2012.
- [20] E. Frank, L. M. Steudle, D. Ingildeev, J. M. Sporl, and M. R. Buchmeiser, "Carbon fibers: Precursor systems, processing, structure, and properties," *Angew. Chemie - Int. Ed.*, vol. 53, no. 21, pp. 5262–5298, 2014.
- [21] FISIPE, "FISIPE Innovation and FP7," 2014. [Online]. Available: http://formacao.aeportugal.pt/docs/apresentações-seminário-horizonte-2020---6fev/apresentação-josé-miguel-contreiras.pdf?sfvrsn=4. [Accessed: 19-Oct-2017].
- [22] "Homopolymer." [Online]. Available: https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/homopolymer. [Accessed: 11-Aug-2017].
- [23] K. Kageyama, "Carbon Fiber Innovation," 18TH Int. Conf. Compos. Mater., pp. 2–5, 2011.
- [24] R. B. Seymour and G. S. Kirshenbaum, Eds., *High Performance Polymers: Their Origin and Development*, 1st ed. New York: Elsevier, 1986.
- [25] G. B. Kauffman, "Rayon: The first semi-synthetic fiber product," J. Chem. Educ., vol. 70, no. 11, pp. 887–893, 1993.
- [26] K. Akato, "Pretreatment and Pyrolysis of Rayon-based Precursor for Carbon Fibers," Master's Thesis, University of Tennessee, Knoxville, 2012.
- [27] J. Lin and G. Zhao, "Preparation and characterization of high surface area activated carbon fibers from lignin," *Polymers*, vol. 8, no. 369, pp. 1–10, 2016.
- [28] J. Luo, "Lignin Based Carbon Fiber," Master's Thesis, University of Maine, 2010.
- [29] J. Luo, J. Genco, B. Cole, and R. Fort, "Lignin recovered from the near-neutral hemicellulose extraction process as a precursor for carbon fiber," *BioResources*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 4566–4593, 2011.
- [30] "Sustitución del fenol en formulaciones adhesivas fenólicas con lignina," 2017. [Online]. Available: http://pt.inpralatina.com/201705236941/noticias/tecnologia/sustitucion-del-fenol-enformulaciones-adhesivas-fenolicas-con-lignina.html. [Accessed: 25-Sep-2017].
- [31] J. A. Dutton, "Lignin." [Online]. Available: https://www.e-education.psu.edu/egee439/node/665. [Accessed: 16-Oct-2017].
- [32] P. Bajpai, "Lignin as a Precursor for Carbon Fiber Production," in *Carbon Fibre from Lignin*, Singapore: Springer, 2017, pp. 43–57.
- [33] D. A. Baker and T. G. Rials, "Recent advances in low-cost carbon fiber manufacture from lignin," *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.*, vol. 130, no. 2, pp. 713–728, 2013.
- [34] R. Paul, X. Dai, A. Hausner, A. Naskar, and N. Gallego, "Treatment of Lignin Precursors to Improve their Suitability for Carbon Fibers : A Literature Review," in *Conference on Carbon Fibers* and Their Composites and Applications, An American Carbon Society Workshop, April 16-17, Double Tree House, Oak Ridge, TN, 2015.
- [35] A. K. Naskar, K. Akato, C. D. Tran, R. M. Paul, and X. Dai, "Low Cost Bio-Based Carbon Fiber

forHigh-TemperatureProcessing,"2017.[Online].Available:https://info.ornl.gov/sites/publications/Files/Pub72969.pdf.[Accessed: 04-Oct-2017].

- [36] D. Balgude and A. S. Sabnis, "CNSL: an environment friendly alternative for the modern coating industry," *J. Coatings Technol. Res.*, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 169–183, 2014.
- [37] "Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations." [Online]. Available: http://www.fao.org/faostat. [Accessed: 05-Dec-2017].
- [38] P. A. Mahanwar and D. D. Kale, "Effect of cashew nut shell liquid (CNSL) on properties of phenolic resins," J. Appl. Polym. Sci., vol. 61, no. 12, pp. 2107–2111, 1996.
- [39] M. Parry, "Synthesis and Characterisation," in *Studies on the toughening of epoxy resins*, vol. 1, pp. 69–100.
- [40] F. Jaillet, E. Darroman, A. Ratsimihety, R. Auvergne, B. Boutevin, and S. Caillol, "New biobased epoxy materials from cardanol," *Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Technol.*, vol. 116, no. 1, pp. 63–73, 2014.
- [41] T. Berckmans, "Cashew Nutshell Liquid based Polyols for Tomorrow's Polyurethane Foams," Cardolite Corporation, 2017. [Online]. Available: http://www.pseeurope.com/_downloads/presentations/PSE_2017_-_Cardolite_-__Cashew_Nutshell_Liquid_based_Polyols_for_Tomorrows_Polyurethane_Foams_-__Tom_Berckmans.pdf. [Accessed: 05-Dec-2017].
- [42] N. P. Cheremisinoff, Handbook of Engineering Polymeric Materials, 1st ed. CRC Press, 1997.
- [43] "Engineer's Handbook."[Online].Available:http://www.engineershandbook.com/Materials/thermoset.htm. [Accessed: 14-Sep-2017].
- [44] J. M. Raquez, M. Deléglise, M. F. Lacrampe, and P. Krawczak, "Thermosetting (bio)materials derived from renewable resources: A critical review," *Prog. Polym. Sci.*, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 487– 509, 2010.
- [45] M. Kathalewar and A. Sabnis, "Epoxy resin from cardanol as partial replacement of bisphenol-A-based epoxy for coating application," *J. Coatings Technol. Res.*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 601–618, 2014.
- [46] C. Voirin, S. Caillol, N. V. Sadavarte, B. V. Tawade, B. Boutevin, and P. P. Wadgaonkar, "Functionalization of cardanol: towards biobased polymers and additives," *Polym. Chem.*, vol. 5, no. 9, pp. 3142–3162, 2014.
- [47] F. Cardona and M. T. H. Sultan, "Characterization of environmentally sustainable resole phenolic resins synthesized with plant-based bioresources," *BioResources*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 965–983, 2016.
- [48] "Phenolic Novolac and Resol Resins." [Online]. Available: https://plenco.com/phenolic-novolacresol-resins.htm. [Accessed: 09-Oct-2017].
- [49] M. Sultania, J. S. P. Rai, and D. Srivastava, "Studies on the synthesis and curing of epoxidized novolac vinyl ester resin from renewable resource material," *Eur. Polym. J.*, vol. 46, no. 10, pp. 2019–2032, 2010.
- [50] E. Can, E. Kinaci, and G. R. Palmese, "Preparation and characterization of novel vinyl ester formulations derived from cardanol," *Eur. Polym. J.*, vol. 72, pp. 129–147, 2015.
- [51] E. Saldívar-Guerra and E. Vivaldo-Lima, Handbook of Polymer Synthesis, Characterization, and

Processing. New Jersey: Wiley, 2013.

- [52] J. R. Fried, Polymer Science & Technology, 2nd ed. New Jersey: Prentice Hall PTR, 1995.
- [53] J. M. G. Cowie and V. Arrighi, *Polymers: Chemistry and Physics of Modern Materials*, 3rd ed. CRC Press, 2007.
- [54] Cardolite, "Cardanol NC-514." [Online]. Available: https://www.cardolite.com/prod_nc514. [Accessed: 01-Oct-2017].
- [55] F. Jaillet, H. Nouailhas, R. Auvergne, A. Ratsimihety, B. Boutevin, and S. Caillol, "Synthesis and characterization of novel vinylester prepolymers from cardanol," *Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Technol.*, vol. 116, no. 7, pp. 928–939, 2014.
- [56] S. Ravichandran, R. M. Bouldin, J. Kumar, and R. Nagarajan, "A renewable waste material for the synthesis of a novel non-halogenated flame retardant polymer," *J. Clean. Prod.*, vol. 19, no. 5, pp. 454–458, 2011.
- [57] B. H. Stuart, *Infrared Spectroscopy: Fundamentals and Applications*, vol. 8. Chichester, West Sussex, England: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd, 2004.
- [58] M. A. Ganzoury, N. K. Allam, T. Nicolet, and C. All, "Introduction to Fourier Transform Infrared Spectrometry," *Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev.*, vol. 50, pp. 1–8, 2015.
- [59] A. J. Brandolini and D. D. Hills, *NMR spectra of polymers and polymer additives*, no. 1. New Jersey: Marcel Dekker, Inc., 2000.
- [60] "Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (NMR spectroscopy) An Overview," 2015.
 [Online]. Available: http://www.thespectroscopy.com/nmr/nmr-spectroscopy-an-overview/.
 [Accessed: 28-Sep-2017].
- [61] "NMR: Theory." [Online]. Available: https://chem.libretexts.org/Core/Physical_and_Theoretical_Chemistry/Spectroscopy/Magnetic_ Resonance_Spectroscopies/Nuclear_Magnetic_Resonance/NMR%3A_Theory. [Accessed: 28-Sep-2017].
- [62] "NMR: Introduction." [Online]. Available: https://chem.libretexts.org/Core/Physical_and_Theoretical_Chemistry/Spectroscopy/Magnetic_ Resonance_Spectroscopies/Nuclear_Magnetic_Resonance/Nuclear_Magnetic_Resonance_II. [Accessed: 28-Sep-2017].
- [63] S. Hardinger, "Proton Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (1H-NMR) Spectroscopy," University of California, Los Angeles, 2015. [Online]. Available: http://www.chem.ucla.edu/~harding/notes/notes_14C_nmr03.pdf. [Accessed: 29-Sep-2017].
- [64] "TGA Analysis & Thermal Conductivity." [Online]. Available: http://shodhganga.inflibnet.ac.in/bitstream/10603/10157/15/16_chapter 5.pdf. [Accessed: 28-Sep-2017].
- [65] PerkinElmer Inc, "Thermogravimetric Analysis A Beginner's Guide," 2013. [Online]. Available: https://www.perkinelmer.com/CMSResources/Images/44-74556GDE_TGABeginnersGuide.pdf. [Accessed: 28-Sep-2017].
- [66] M. Mckinnon, "Thermogravimetric Analysis (TGA) & Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC),"
 2014. [Online]. Available: http://www.enfp.umd.edu/sites/default/files/documents/LMD-TGA-

DSC.pdf. [Accessed: 09-Oct-2017].

- [67] H. K. D. H. Bhadeshia, "Thermal analyses techniques," *Material Science and Metallurgy*, 2007.
 [Online]. Available: https://www.phase-trans.msm.cam.ac.uk/2002/Thermal1.pdf. [Accessed: 09-Oct-2017].
- [68] Hitachi, "Principle of Differential Thermal Analysis (DTA)." [Online]. Available: http://www.hitachihightech.com/global/products/science/tech/ana/thermal/descriptions/dta.html. [Accessed: 05-Oct-2017].
- [69] P. Gill, T. T. Moghadam, and B. Ranjbar, "Differential scanning calorimetry techniques: applications in biology and nanoscience.," *J. Biomol. Tech.*, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 167–93, 2010.
- [70] PerkinElmer, "Differential Scanning Calorimetry (DSC): A Beginner's Guide," 2014. [Online].
 Available: https://www.perkinelmer.com.cn/CMSResources/Images/46-74542GDE_DSCBeginnersGuide.pdf. [Accessed: 28-Sep-2017].
- [71] M. Sultania, J. S. P. Rai, and D. Srivastava, "Kinetic Modeling of Esterification of Cardanol Based Epoxy Resin in the Presence of Triphenylphosphine for Producing Vinyl Ester Resin: Mechanistic Rate Equation," *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.*, vol. 118, pp. 1979–1989, 2010.
- [72] L. Chen, L. Bromberg, H. Schreuder-Gibson, J. Walker, T. Alan Hatton, and G. C. Rutledge,
 "Chemical protection fabrics via surface oximation of electrospun polyacrylonitrile fiber mats," *J. Mater. Chem.*, vol. 19, no. 16, p. 2432, 2009.
- [73] C. V Mythili, A. M. Retna, and S. Gopalakrishnan, "Synthesis, mechanical, thermal and chemical properties of polyurethanes based on cardanol," *Bull. Mater. Sci.*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 235–241, 2004.
- [74] M. Inagaki and F. Kang, Eds., *Materials Science and Engineering of Carbon: Characterization*,
 1st ed. Shenzhen, Guangdong, China: Butterworth-Heinemann, Elsevier, 2016.
- [75] G. Bhat, S. Akato, N. Cross, W. Hoffman, and F. Mohammadi, "Recent Developments on Carbon Fibers from Rayon-Based Precursors." [Online]. Available: http://www.carbonfiberworkshop.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/7-Gajanan-Bhat-UT.pdf.
 [Accessed: 23-Oct-2017].
- [76] M. D. Besteti, F. G. S. Jr., D. M. G. Freire, and J. C. Pinto, "Production of Core-Shell Polymer Particles-Containing Cardanol by Semibatch Combined Suspension/ Emulsion Polymerization," *Polym. Eng. Sci.*, pp. 1222–1229, 2014.
- [77] A. Organics, "Acrylic Acid Material Safety Data Sheet," 2009. [Online]. Available: https://www.fishersci.com/shop/products/acrylic-acid-99-5-extra-pure-stabilized-acros-organics-5/p-3735235. [Accessed: 05-Jun-2017].
- [78] I. Sciencelab.com, "Chloroform MSDS," 2013. [Online]. Available: http://www.sciencelab.com/msds.php?msdsId=9927133. [Accessed: 05-Jun-2017].
- [79] "Hexane." [Online]. Available: http://dept.harpercollege.edu/chemistry/msds/Hexanes Acros.pdf. [Accessed: 19-Oct-2017].
- [80] F. Scientific, "Hydroquinone MSDS," 2009. [Online]. Available: https://www.fishersci.com/shop/products/hydroquinone-99-5-acros-organics-5/p-143946. [Accessed: 05-Jun-2017].

- [81] I. Sciencelab.com, "Potassium carbonate, anhydrous MSDS," 2013. [Online]. Available: http://www.sciencelab.com/msds.php?msdsId=9926681. [Accessed: 05-Jun-2017].
- [82] "Potassium Ferricyanide." [Online]. Available: http://cdn2.lasecsa.co.za/pdf/sds/Potassium Ferricyanide.pdf. [Accessed: 05-Jun-2017].
- [83] "Sodium Chloride." [Online]. Available: http://www.medicago.se/sites/default/files/pdf/msds/24-0040_Sodium_Chloride_Reagents_Ed_02_0.pdf. [Accessed: 19-Oct-2017].
- [84] "Sodium Hydroxide." [Online]. Available: https://www.caymanchem.com/msdss/780068m.pdf. [Accessed: 19-Oct-2017].
- [85] W. V. B. Street, "Triphenyl phosphine MSDS," 2013. [Online]. Available: http://www.sciencelab.com/msds.php?msdsId=9925342. [Accessed: 05-Jun-2017].

8. Annex

8.1 Annex I

Table 1 – Risk phrases of the chemical compounds used.

Chemical compound	Molecular formula	R-phrases
Acrylic acid	C ₃ H ₄ O ₂	R10; R20/21/22; R35; R50. [77]
Cardanol NX-9001	-	-
Cardanol NC-514	-	-
Chloroform	CHCl₃	R20/22; R38; R40. [78]
Hexane	$CH_3(CH_2)_4CH_3$	R11; R38; R48/20; R51/53; R62; R65; R67. [79]
Hydroquinone	$C_6H_6O_2$	R22; R40; R41; R43; R50; R68. [80]
Potassium Carbonate	K ₂ CO ₃	R22; R37/38; R41. [81]
Potassium Ferricyanide	K ₃ [Fe(CN) ₆]	R32. [82]
Sodium Chloride	NaCl	N/A [83]
Sodium Hydroxide	NaOH	R35. [84]
TPP	C ₁₈ H ₁₅ P	R20/22; R36/37/38. [85]

R-phrases:

- R10: Flammable;
- R11: Highly flammable;
- R20: Harmful by inhalation;
- R21: Harmful in contact with skin;
- R22: Harmful if swallowed;
- R32: Contact with acids liberates very toxic gas;
- R34: Causes burns;
- R35: Causes severe burns;
- R36: Irritating to eyes;
- R37: Irritating to respiratory system;
- R38: Irritating to skin;
- R40: Limited evidence of a carcinogenic effect;
- R41: Risk of serious damage to eyes;
- R43: May cause sensitization by skin contact;
- R48: Danger of serious damage to health by prolonged exposure;
- R50: Very toxic to aquatic organism;
- R51: Toxic to aquatic organisms;
- R53: May cause long-term adverse effects in the aquatic environment;
- R62: Possible risk of impaired fertility;
- R65: Harmful: may cause lung damage if swallowed;
- R67: Vapors may cause drowsiness and dizziness;
- R68: Possible risk of irreversible effects;

8.2 Annex II



Figure 36 – ¹H-NMR spectrum of the cardanol-based VE resin with the integration values.